\\J

I'JE

A

£,

B “: ‘h'-;‘;:‘}:, /,76_"_;__/_

~
——

COSANTA,

BURIEAU OF MILITARY HISTORY, 1913-21.

STATEMENT BY WITNESS.

DOCUMENT No. W.S,*73% '

Witness : '
John. C. King,,
135-81 Sandford Avenue,
Flushing,,

New York,
U.S.A L 3

ldentity.
Ad:jutant, Leennne Batt'n., lL.R.A.

Member of West. Connemars Brigade,
active Service Unit,
Subject.
Witnesses experience in the fight for
lrish Freedom with the West Connemara Bgde.,

Active: Service Unit.

Conditions, if any, Stipulated by Witness.

Nil,

Form B.S.M. 2
P.532 1000 6-57 3/4526




3]

AW NS ' ﬂNo.'—W..S. 1,73{ o I
STATELENT BY JOHH C. KING, |

153-01 Sanford Avemue, Flushing, New York, U.S.A.

_ STAFF CAPTAIN JOHN C. KIWG'S EXPERIGHCE
1R THZ FYGHT FOR IRISH FREEDON WITH THE
WEST CONREUARA BRIGADE - ACTIVE SEAVICE

' URIT.

I was bora the 1lst of October, 1900, near the
town of Uastport, Co. Llayo. Whem i ﬁas three and a
half years® old,my mother died at the birth of my
brother, William. There were five children; one girl
and four boys. Iy fhthgr could not take care of the
children, so they qéra taken over by different
relatives. '

I cannot remember the backgrouns of my family
on either side. . William, the baby, and 1 qeré taken
by my uncle and his wife, nameﬁ Sammon, which was my
mother's'naﬁa. Thay lived oﬁ ths south side of
Leeﬁane; Co. Gﬁlway. in a village named Cullaghbeg. _Hy.'
uncle had some part in the Land League under Parnell
and Hichaei_ﬁuvitt; Ho was always a bit wary about
having anything to do with matters of any national
revolutionary nature, as it seems he had some experience
during the Land War which left some unpleasantness in
his membrﬁ._ By this, hé felt that people could not be
trusted..

He had a small farm, and was also a rosd ganger
“for the County Council. Re kept a mumber -of stud
animals, stallions, bulls ard rams, as well as two




beautiful Scoteh collies, male and femmle. Thhs. ny
brother and 1 grew up with all kinds of farm animals.

Ve attended national school at the village of
Leenane. Ths national school at Leenanec was aboﬁt‘a
mile and a half from home, and the teachers were always
of the loyalist type. Gaslic was never taught in my
day. Although I speak it, I cannot fead or urite the
language of my country!

Close to the end of my school days, tho Great
far started, and we were having all the propagands at
School that could be drummed into our young heads by
England's system of education. Anybody who dénned the -
uniform of England vas s demi-god in the eyes of the
loyalists.

Every @ay we were treated to the spectacle of
British soldiars on route march through the country.
The eonstant din of artillery and rifle practice - the
nassing of tho British fleet in the Killary Bay as they
nid from the sttacks of the German "U" boats. To my
young'ears at the time, it was all the greatest of

excitement coming into our dull country lifs.

The first feeling of awakening csme to me arouﬁﬂ
Laster Honday, 1916, as 1 wag doing some marketing in s
‘loyalist shop in Leensne. A fellow came in who was &
gservant of some of the English land-holders about the
distriet, and he was very exclited. He said thgt *Sinn
Fainers*" had rigen in Dublin and were spreading all over
the country, and that the participants would all be



shot or hanged, as they were all in the pay oﬂ the
Kaiser. ' I

I had a mile and a half to walk home and a lot of
time to think of those strange mem who dared to attack
the great British Bmpire (noﬁ at war). I felt a funny
foeling deep down in my stomach, and I could not stop
the tears coming into my eyes. The story I told at home
was not taken much notice of until the following dsy.
Jeus came thick and fnét. and all kinds of false rumours

were coming in, &s cansorship was clamped donn;

Soon word came from the O Haille houseshold, which

was close by, that Pddraic O Maille, along with Colm
0'Gecrn, were arrested. I did not know Colm O'Gaora

than, but the O iaille family were next-door neighbours,
g0 it broﬁght the matter into the “back yardﬁ.' The

6 Msille's were all oither teachers, or had gomething to
do with the Gaelic language.

Tﬁings happened fast after this, as the_threat of
conseription came along, and all the youth of the country
flocked into the Irish Volunteers, or endeavoufad to get
out of the country to America. A conpany waslfbrmed in
Leenane by Peter J. LicDonnell, John Feehan and Nichael
Joyce of G;anagimla. I Joined at once, and becane
Company Lisutenant. This part of the movement was taken
up with 4rilling and making of pikes and teaching first-
aid.

After the release of the political prisonsrs from
England, I came into contact with Colm O'Gaora and
Pddraic ¢ Maflle, and in 1918 saw Padraic electod to
Ddil Hireann. I took a very éctive part in this

clection. I remember having the *flu (which was
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raging at the time) and being confined to bedfon
Christmas night on that year, and on New Year's Day 1 got
out of bed, although I was in a very weak condition, to
gsee the result of our victory over the Irish Party

member, William 0'lalley. There was a terrible fali of
snow at the time.

Again in 1919, those who were released had to go
on the run, and Padraic § Maille, who was elected first
Deputy Speaker of the Ddil, had to go with them. He
was a very big man, weighing twenty gone, and six feet

tall, so he was easy to recognise under any kind of
disguise.

Knowing that I was in the Volunteers, Padraic
asked me if he could get his mail under my address. So
1 consented and, for a long time, I received his mail 4in
an envelope marked “catalogue“. The R.1.C. were
constantly searching and-reiding for him, and as I was
also active in the Volunteers, I had to watch that the
police would not "catch on® that I was getting Padraice's
mail. 1 had to be always on the alert, and too, ay
uncle uas not avare that I was doing this. Uy actions
in the Volunteers made soc much nongense to him, and
prought down on my head plenty of tongue lashings on

accoynt of late hours and absence from home and work.’

One night, I eame home late, and it was my custon
not to put on any light. The big Collie dog never
barked when I came to the door, but this night he wanted
to get by me, and he growled meaningly in his throat.

I quieted him by patting him on the head. But 1 knew
there was something amiss. I iistened and heard a low

murmur of distant supressed volces, and also san the




gleam of a smouldering cigarette on the lansway leading
to the maln road from the house. I know at once that
it was a patrol of police, keeping an eye on my house
to see if Padralc ( Maille would come along. 1 caught
the dog by the neck and gave him a shake, and said;

“Go, get them!®. He dashed down the lane silently, and
next thing 1 heard was & cry of pain ag his sharp teeth
sank into one of the R.1.C. men's leg. After this, I

did pot think it safe to get any more of Padraic's mail.

About this time, the R.I.C. raided the residence
of Padraic § tiaille and there was an exchange of gunfira.
Padraic and those vho were with him got away, and I heard
afterwards that it was Sean Ford who fired on the police.
However, the ralding party did not show too much desire
for combat, and took to their heels. The following day,
a large cycling party of R.1.C., under a District
Inspector, made another raid on the house. To what
purpose, I cannot tell. (As the object of their
attention was in their net the previous night, how naive
did they think he would be, to awalt their arrival the
following dayt) They certainly made a big display of
their stupidity, and made a formidable sbectacle. armed
with side arms, carbines and bayonets. It was the first
raid 1 sawv, and woke me up to the fact that things were
gatting hot. Later, 1 would learn how hot things
COULD get! ‘

o it gy i

The year 1919 was taken up with collecting funds.
Tie ran concerts, sports and dances as well as door-<to-
door collections. I remomber being sent to a fair at
laam and collecting £5, vhich I thought a good day's

TOrK. On another occasion, I was hard at work in the




hay-field when Padraic and Bamonn Corbert from Galway
came along, and said they were going to some sports event
that was being held in Kylemore. All I cculd do wasg
walk along with then. (The reader must realise the
effect éuch an act had on my uncle - on such a fine day -
and what I was in for, on my return home!) I remember
that we carried side arms on this occasion, as.we
gxpected the field to be raided by R.1.C. to cateh
Padraic. |

At the time in guestion, thg R.1.C. had evacuated
ell the outposts which thej deemed vulnerable to attack,
and the closest to Kylemore was Clifden. They held
Eaam barracks, nhiéh was built on a hilil close to Lough
Corrid anﬂ was heavily fortified with steel shutters and
barbed wire. It could not be attacked from any
direction, as there was .no cover to get close enough to
place a demolition charge. Thus, it was never
attempted. _

Fow we received orders to destroy all barracks
and posts evacuated by the military and R.1.C. One
night, we assembled to burn the police barracks at
" Leenana. We had a lot of 6aten straw apd petrol, and
carried side arms. Then we reached the main door, it
was locked, and we decided to get a sledge hammer to
batter it down. Padraic § laille was along with us, and
he said: “"Keep backi". and charged at the door. The
door frame disintegrated in a cloud of dust, and Padraile
" disappeared through it. I heard a dull thud and & loud
.grunt as Padraic hit the wall on the other side of the
hallway. 1 ramafked to P.J. MeDonnell, who was standing
near, that the blg brute must have gone through the wall

on the other sgida.




The year 1920 savw things getting real hot, and
it was declided to sleap away from home. Tﬁere viere a
nunber of men on the run‘in and ‘around the mountains,
and at all hours of the night and day I was taking
gsonebody to some place to hide out. The majority of
these were unknogn to me, but Padraic knew them all. They
generally had an alias, and 1 never enquired further. One
of thegse men (I afterwards found out) was Richard Ifulcahy.
I was told by Padralc to keep a look-out while llulcahy
dined at Padraic's house in Hounterowen. Later, as I
wvalked with him in the lead, while some other came in the
rear, he asked me 1f I had any rank and I told hig my
rank. He said: "Do you know what makes a good I.R.A.
man?® ] did not make any reply as 1 4id not kKnow what
answer to make at the time. "Wiell", he sald, "1 will
tell you, apd I want you to keep it always in your
memory; it 1is this: always obey orders without
question when coming from your superior officer; be
punctual at all meaetings. Do not ask questions. Keep
your eyas and ears open, and observe everything that
takes place. These are the basic qualifications for a
good 1.R.A. man, and see that you observe themi® I
never met lr. Mulecahy after that, although I was to
hear plenty about him. 1 remember him as a stern ann
who talked little. fle had 8 lean military-like face
and did not do any idle telking. He secemed toc ba
alwvays in deep thought.

One night, after leaving Padraic and some others in
billets for the night, I was coming along an old by-uay
in the upper part of ay native village, when I observed
an object coming along from the direction of my housa.
1 hid until) it came quite close, keeping my hand on a




38 revolver I carriod, ani vondering what the
apparition might be. tThen it came near, 1 sawv it was
a man, and then I recognised Tomas ¢ tailie, a brother
of Padraic, who was a professor at Galway Univaraity.'
He began to tell me a tale of murder and torture in
Galway by the Tans and Auxiliaries. Tomds wished to
stayed with Padraic for the night, so I had to retrace
my way back to vhere Padraic slept.

T will nover forget how this professor vas
garbed. fle vore a severe black suit and overcoat, a
-whité straw hat, a8 very high collar, with a narroa black
tie, vhite spats, and he carried a cane and roeader.

You can imagine this outfit in the Connerara tiountains.
e was the first professor I met, but I was to learn
afterwardé that all profbséors followed a pattérn of

eccontricity.

As the year 1920 went on, the_situation grew
vorse, and thare vere a lot of men who could not remain
at hone, 80 1t was decided to start a camp. The place
selacted was in Clanosch Valley. There, a herd's
house vas taken over and furnished for sleeping
quarters. This valley 1s about seven mliles long, and
runs from east to west in the centre of the Joyce
country. There is no road going through it, and 1¢ i3
surrounded by high mountains on either side. On the
sough side of the valley, on the Haam Turk liountain,
Samonn ¢ Laille (who was a brother of Padraic and an
enginear) blasted a cave, to hide out and store arms.
e decided to move all arms and ammunition to the canp,

ani do some training thera.

The men were at this time raiding for arms and




loading shotgun cartridgoes, as the order was expected at
any moment to form a column. I made frequent trips
with food and arms to the camp in Glanlosh, and Padraic

" would ask me if there was any news. S50 I would tell

him anything that came into my mind. Tomds, with the
mind of a teacher, would tell Padraic not to pay much
attention to the King fellow, as he was given to great
exaggeration (which was quite true im this casel).
Genarally, Padraie told him to “shﬁt up”.

Padrailc had a dog named dingo which was of
questicnable ancestry and went all over with hin, It
gave off a very offensive odour and was infested with
bis share of fleas. An enmity sprang up between Toamds |
énd the dog, due to the odour ani fleas. Tomds told
Padraic he should get rid of ihe flea-hound. Padraict's
reply was to the effect that the dog was held in high
esteom, sd that any man who didn't care to tolerate him

should clear out.

One night, we were all seated in a house after
having something to eat, and the woman of tha‘house |
asked Tomfs what the Black and Tans and Auxiliaries
were. Tomd§ explained thus: “The Black and Tans and
Auxiliaries are the scum of the British prisons aad
armies, and aro sent over to this countiy, getting
seven pounds per week, to shoot down men, vomen and

children, and destroy our homes, and get as much loot

.as they can possibly attend to. DO YOU KNOU ...t"

(Tomds always finished his sentences in this menner.)

On Christmas night of 1920, ali went nome'fram
camp, and I was about to depart too when Padralc asked

whether or not anybody wns going to remain with hinm.




Nobody answered, but all leftt I decided to remaln as

I felt sorry for him to ba alone on the Holy llight.
About tuelvo oftelocik that night, Padralc got a notlon that
there might bo o rald on the camp and that it would be
battor to repair to the cave on the mountaih aide. Rot,
it vas pitch bhlack, and he took some bcdding.on his baék.
and I carried some more. He took a pail of live coals,
and we started up the steep cliff. As Padraic got into
the breczo higher up, the emders in the pail began to
send a shower of sparks skyvard, and old Dingo began to
houl at tho flames. I was coming 1in the rear ani, with
the sparks flying and the rocks dug up by Padraic's feet,
I uas ruhning the gauntlet!

Thon wae roached the cave, me started a f{ire, and
| soon the place was full of asmoke. I told Padraic the
chimney vas stopped up, and went on the roof to open it
uith a stick. 1 vas not long up there when I heard a
groat commotion in the cave. Padraic began to holla,
and the dog began to snarl. I jumped down, and heard
something go up the steps that led doun to the cave
door. As ] entered, I heard Padraic cursing at vingo
to “get him?, and the next momnent he (Padraic) was
upset on the floor, and 1 ducked as a grey cbjlect caae
at wo and went through the door, with Dingo 1h pursuit!
It was then that we found out that a badger and his mate
had made a home in our dugout when they found the door
opan, and got smokad outt

There uas an upright bed in the cave, with a
gspring in it, vhich ve got into. It was not iong until
Padralc uas snoring soundly, and Dingo busy by the fire
attending to his fleas, as well as licking some

scratches raeceived from the badgers. Soume tine durlng



the night, I woke and, as the fire had died down, I
felt rather cold. Padraic lay on his side, still
snoring. 1 was surprised to find that I could sit up
alongside of Padraic and no bedclothes would touch me.
It was a8 1f I vas 4in a "pup tent! alongside him. I

was glad when morning dawned.

It wes reported that four R.1,.C. men attanded
Mass at Kilmilkin Church each Sunday, but did not carry
arns. we had noed of bicyclas for despatch nork, as
vall as taking wanted men from place to place. So
oyself and an officer nared Bornard Brennan (alias Jack
Smith, who was.on tho run and'staying with P.J. lLcDonnell
at lcenane, and tho belonged to a Sligo column to which
he returned after this incident) wient to the Church,
seized the four bicyecles, and umsde off with them. The
police were scared vwhen they found their bicyelas gone,
and they thought 1t was a ruso to shoot them on the ey
to the barracks. Y7e heard aftervards that one fellow,
who had been engaged in a raid on the residence of Colm
O'Caora, thought he was belng singled out. He fainted
before he reached the barracks, and had to bec taken in

on a slde ecar.

Comzandant Sedn Corcoran was at my house shortly
aftervards, and one of the bicycles was given to him, as
the one he was using was in bad condition, The poor
fellow was shot dead adbout three days later near his
home at Claremorris. He aas'surprised by a patrol of
poiice, as.hs cycled along the road on that same
bieycle, and did not get a chanca. Yay God rest his
noble soul!l l
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The New Year of 1921 was filled with hasty
preparations, as e were aware that the time was:at
hand vhon wo would get the order to take the fileld. e
began to gat all our equipment together at an arranged
dump. My brother, VWillie, and I were taking somo rifles
and other stuff along an old pathway (vhich was a shorte
cut from the main road) to our house. 1t was very dark,
andi there was a housse near the entrance of this bywuay io
which lived a family naned Barrett, whose daughter was
marriod to an R.I.C. man named Callanan from Clonakilty
in Co. Cork.

Barrett had a dog calied Kruger, named so after a|Boer
Gensral. This dog was black and white, and you ¢ould
never got past the house without his giving the alarnm
by barking.

iy brother could hit anything with a stone, cast
underhand from the hip. 5o I climbed into the field
befora 1 reached the house, carrying the rifles on ny
back in & sling. Willie continued along tho path.
As he got near the gate, he saw the dog framed therae,
50 he quickly picked up a stone and cast it underhand
with great force. But, instead of a howl from the dog,
1 heard & loud screan as 1f someone had been suddehly
hurt. Uy brother came running back to tell me that he
mistook Jim Barrett in the gateway for the dog, as he
worc a white coat vwhich his son, who was a shop
assistant in Dublin, had brought home when leaving.
All I could do was lie dowvn on the ground and try to

smothar loud laughter.
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A mission uas being held in ths Leenane:Church,

conducted by'two priests, Fathers Tracey and Cotter,

~of the Redemptorist Order. They vwere very sympathetic

to the cause. Uc of thé column were told to go to
Confession to them, and tell them that we expeéted to
start fighting in the near futurc. They gave us thaeir
blessing, and were indeed fine priests.

Rot long after this, we ran into the same two

priests, but not in tho confessionsl. e went to
Cornamona to destroy a bridge, and they were conducting
a oission there. The Pastor, Father John O'Grady, vas

from Louisburgh. Co. Bayo. The charge was laid in the
bridge by Zemonn €. Malle (the enginaor), and an electric
coble lad to & battery, som& distance avay. Soms of
the men stood guard while others weni to houses tlose by,
to varn the occupants to evaecuate until after tho
detonation. It was a heavy charge of dynamite, as the
bridge was very strongly ccnstructeq of granito arch. '
P.J. teDonnell, who was 0.C., told the men te stand-to
until all the peoplo got over the bridge who were at the
mission. Then all had passed, Father 0'Grady and the
two missioners came along, aml Fﬁxher 0'Crady asked what
vas amiss. Tha 0.C. told him that now we nerse at var
with the British, and that we had to destroy brildges
unich afforded the enemy a circular route, and'éxplained
that it vas essential to umilitary stratggy to do so.

' Father 0'Grady would not listen, but began a long tirade
.about a lot of foolishnoss as well as the hardship

entailad by his parishoners. Father Cotter, who had
flaning red hair, said, "Boys, don't arg with him! Do
your work, but plaase let us get a distance down tho:

road before you blov the bridge!® They started off
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at a rﬁn, but Fathor 0'Crady said he would stand on
the bridge and let it be blown up under his fect. To
this, Father Tracey said: "Good-bye, Johnt See you
in Heavon ... maybol®" {/ith that, the C.b. gave the
ordor to ¢lear the bridge and take cover. Father
‘O'Graﬂy was not too far away whan the explosion shook
the countryside and aplit the bridge in tuo.

There was an old man named Lowery who would not
get out of his house, as he was sufferins from severa
rhsunatism. He was lifted from his bed by the
concussion, and when he got to his feet, his old bones
had beeome limber as a c¢hild's, I heard that he became

an ardent Republican.

A few days afﬁor this, P.J. Iclonnell, John

' Faehan, Gerald Bartley and Tommy Ladden came to my house,
and the& told me to come along, that uve were going into
action and noul& not remain home any more. I waent into
the stable and got my rifle which I had hidden for some
time, 08 I was expecting to be called at any moment. I
will nsver forget the look my uncle gave me as I canme
out of the stable with the rifle, vhich he nsver kneu
was there. No doubt that when he saw this, he was gure
we meant business, even though he may have thought us a
lot of young fools. I was the only one who carried a
rifle; all the rest carried side arms. 1 thought

nysolf a formidable trooper, with my .38 calibre
revolver and .303 Lartini Carbine - but I was to learn
a different lesson later, as to the dffectiveness of

arnamenti
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I had pever met Tommy iadden previously to this,
and as I looked him over, he appeared to me at the time
to be one of the strangest men I ever saw. He looked
much older than he was. He had crossed eyes, and did
not seem to have very good eyesight. His eyebrowus ‘
were bushy and covered his eyes, and were set in a
lowering expression. He walked in a stooped manner
and, at each step, lifted his feet after the manner of
an ostrich. But he wns not wanting in courage. I

will deal vith him some more later on in this story.

Gerald Baftley I had heard about, but it was
our first meeting. He was ope of the finest looking
I.R.A. officers I ever saw. Tall and well-built, with
a pale, lean face, dark‘harr and gsquare shoulders. 1
liked him at once, and we became the clogsest of friends
and remained so until I left for Azerica.

I pust add at- this time that our battalion had
bean formed into a bdbrigede, which was the Vlest Connemara
Brigade, uith Peter J. UcDonnell, 0.C, I became
Adjutant of the Leenane Battalion, However, as I was

joining the Active Service Unit, I did not act much in

this capacity until after the Truce.

(A further word about myself: I was no brave,
fearless harot Far from it! I was jJust an ordinsary

soldier doinz what I was told, and at that time looked

-much younger than twenty years which was my age nheﬁ I

trent on active servica. All throughout my career as g8
soldier, I Just did as I was told, and carried out any
orders that were issued to me Ey conmanding officers.
They can testify that I did not complain at any time
under any circumstances, and if God had ordained that
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it should be my lot to make the extreme sacrifice, I
would have done so. That is not to say that I was not
afraid. Every man in his sane miﬁdlis afraid, and
without fear there could be no dravery. (Fear is a
natursl protector given by God to mankind.)

Our firat task was to érocure a sort of a camp
or meeting place, and to have some shelter. Padraic
§ Maille and I were directed to get an old house at the
back of the Twelve Pins into a living condition. The
loéation of thié house vas midway between Kylemore and
Clifden - as the objoct of the attack wes in this area.

Padraic and I cut mountain sedge and sods, and
covered the roof. A few Volunteers from the village
of Letterfrack came with some rope, to secure the
thateh. They also brought some food, consisting of
bread, buttef, chease and stout. The Volunteers qut
for home shortly before Padraic and I had completed the
task of roping down the thatch, and when ue started to
get sopething to eat, we found that the gallant
Volunteaers had drunk all the stout and eaten all the
cheese, only leaving the bdbread and butter. Uhen
Padraic sau this, he lot out a roar like a wounded
rhinoceros, and charged out the door! He began to
bellow at the Volunteers, who were about a mile over
the moor, on their way to Latterfrack. They paid no
attention to him, twat continued on thair way. It was
a good thing that they were not near, as Padraic would
have shot them. That night, I went to a house near
Creggs, and Padraic went to Joyce's raesidence at Ungey,

near Letterfrack.

The area of attack vas the road leading to




Clifden, in or around Kylemorq Castle, wherse there was
vary good cover and & dense forest. But the enemy did
not appear in this locality, so 4t was decided to enter
the toun of Clifden and nsalte contact with him. Ve hid
out in an 0ld house on the east side of tha town, near
the village of Coulaun. It vas reported that a party
of from four to aix Black and Tans and R.I.C. (nalking
in the eentre of the street, paired off in extended |
oréder) vwent out on patrol in the town oach night. But
ve could not get exact inforzation as to the number of

the cnemy on patrol.

1% was dangerous to remain close to the toun
too long, 80, on the night of larch 16th, six men

ontered the town with side arms. The remainder covered
the barracks, to prevent the enemy getting to the

assistance of the patrol vhen attacked. Only two Tans
cam2 on patrol that night, and the party shot them doun,

securing their arms and ammunition.

We then witﬁdrcw to our old housa at the Tuolve
Pins. A8 we climbed the mountain at the back of
Clifden, it was a taorrible sight (and oy first-baptism
of fire) to see the wad demons giving the town to
flames. In the night, ve came to the old houée whero
ve had some bread and tea. lle put down a roaring fire,
and gathered a lot of mountain heather to spread on the
floor; ate our bread and tea, and tried to get some

sleap.

Torpny ladden was over against the wall, and I
thought ho uas asleap, or elsa iooking at ths fire.
I got a clod of turf and tossed it at him; it hit him
on ;he hend, 5o ho seid: “King, by Cod, you think I'n



not looking at you, and I'm looking at you betwcen the
bloody eyes!® After that, I never doubted laddeun‘'s
ability to see well, even though he was not looking in

my direction.

Soon after this, we moved into & villsgae at the
back of Kylamore and had some rest. As it waé deocided
to attack a patrol of police and Tans vho uent from
Maam to Rosmuck on certaln occasions, Ue crossed the
mountains, in the direction of Rosauck. One morning
around the first of April, I uas on vatch in a little
wood on the side of the road at Screebe Lodge. 1 saw
a patrol of police passing in the direction of Rosmuck.
"Then they went by, 1 reported to the O.C. whﬁt 1 hnd

seen.

Men were placed in positions along tﬁe road, and
praparations were made to attack them upon thelr return.
Orders were given not to fire until all the polico were
within the ambush. . J4verything vas going as dirscted
whon a rifle was fired prematurely. fhis gava the
ularﬁ to thres of the patrol who were cycling in
exteondad order, and they ran into Screebe Ledge. The
three that entered the ambush were scon dealt with, and
us goﬁ to Vabley revolvers and one Lee Enfield rifle.
The 0.C. ordered thc men to uithdraw, as it would be
foolish to attack the lodge where tha othar three had
enterad. Anyway, they had probably used phe 'phone to

gunmon reinforcements.

le took two young fellaws from the houses 1n

Sercebs with us, as we knew that, as soon as reinforcements

came, they would burn the houses we vwere staying in, and
perhaps shoot the boys.
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Vle crossed again to Hounterowen, to the residence
of Padraic § laille, on the way, stopping at Ualsh's
house in Haam Gowne for some rest. lost of the men
were in a bad state of exhaustion from hunger and
fatigua. One of the Vielsh girls had a little sumner
house that she slept in, as she was not in good health.
I heard some loud snoring eoming from the littls house,
and there was Padraic strotched out on the clean bed,
fast asleep, with all his clothes, including his shoes
and overcoat, on. ‘han ve had some rest, I went to

Lecnane to get sonz cipgarettes and tobacco at lrs. Cuffe's.

The column nov set up headquarters a8t Padraiet‘s
house at llounterouen, as there was information to the
effect that a raid was expected on the hoﬁse, and it
was decided to attack the enemy wvhen ho cane, The
Column set about praparing positioms of deafence. The
6 taille residence is set on the side of & hill, facing
north, about thrce hundred yards froa the [‘aam-Leenans
road, close to which flows a swift-running stream that
aempties into the laan river. A 1littlo roadway ran
down from the house to the stream over uvhich stepping-
stones, as a means of crossing by foot, vere placed.
This part of the stream was shallow and could be forded
by horse-dravn vehicles. The Leagh valley straetches back
to tho Naamturk mountains, and, to the wvest, the Roighha
mountains., Preparaﬁions were made, and each man know
his position, 80 all we had to do was sit back and wait
the coming of the eneﬁy.

During the timo of waiting, one of the boys,
named Gaughan, whom we had taken with us froz 5Screcbe,
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went off his héad tthen he heard that his house had been
burncd down as a raprisal for the attack on the police
there. . %e had to get him tied to_a bed until we could
got a dqctor. in tying him to the bed, he goet hold of
"W. Connolly's hair and pulled out a handful from the
roots. e were in a dilemma, 8s We were expecting the
attack on the house at any pomeont, and a domented man
would be something to contend with. The 0.C.,

P.J. EeDonnell, sent me to Lecnane to get Dr. D'Brien.
vho resided at licKeounts Hotel, to attend to the
denented man. Dr. 0'Brien cams after dark, and gave
the man an injection of morphine which sent hik into a
deep comAa. The following day, he was sent back to his
native village, in the care of hia brother and another
Volunteer. Dr. 0'Brien, who came from the Aran

islands, was aluays ready to help us when required.

A

During the preparations around the P. 0 tHatlle
residence for the attack (which took place in about two
ueeks), there vere many amusing incidents. Tonds was
anxious to fire a shot from one of tho rifles. Ons day,
he said so to John Dundass, from Roundstone. and
Christy Breen, who came from Dublin. | They took Tomds
to the back of the néuse, vhare they procured an old
flint lock rifle which was found in some raid for arms.
Thay seat Tdmds behind a rock, placed the old fiint lock
in his hands. Breen gbt a stick of dynamite in the
breceh. Tomds was about to fire when the 0.C. came
along, and stopped the comedy. He asked Tozds did he
knou what was about to take place, and Tomds replied
that he was anxious to fire off one of those pieces.
“"Do you know", the CG.C. said, “Tomﬁs. thit would be the

first and last plece you would fire 1f I had not come



glong?“ "Oht*, said Tomds, "I believe those fellows

are murderers, ‘do you knowl'®

In a look-out post at the back of the house,
there vas a bowerful telesacope which was kept focussed
on the lizam barracks which vas about five miles away,
~as ueil as ths ¥asm cross road. . There was a sentry on
watch at all times. One day, it was Tomds' time to go
on vatch. He was not long svay uﬁen he came back,
holding his two hands in front of him. Ho came up to
the 0.C., crying, "Look! Lookt Disgusting!
Disgustingl® It seems that the fellow who preceded him
on vatch had placed some odorous offal under the geat of
the teleséopa, anrd tilted it upsida'down. (He knew Tomds
would follow.) Toads went to re-set the seat, resulting
in the conditicn of the professor's hands.

On the morning of April 22nd, lick Conroy of
Roundstone was on watch at about 3 a.m. It was still
dark. He reported that there were black cattle coming
along the fasm-lLeenane road from the direétion of
Kilmilkin. The 0.C. ordered the column to bé alerted.
liot long after thls, rifle fire started, first from the
road, and ansuering volleys from aréund the house as
the column manned their positions. The first thing 1
sew as I rushed out mas the police ducking for eover,
leaving their bicycles on the roadwvay. The range was
two hundred yards. and we set our sights accordingly,
as ve had tested this range 1n advance.

By this time, firing had become genaral from each
direeﬁibn. The O.C.'wgs by the antry gate, and one of
‘the R.I.C. made a dash for the little pathway leading to

the river. The 0.C.'s rifle spoke, and the R.1.C. man

Zl



pithced forward, bshind an old log which had bean cast
up by the river. The 0.C. was a dead shot, and when

he. got an obJect in the gights of his rifle, he rarely,

if ever, missed. How all the police and Tans had got
under cover along the north side of the road, with the

excaption of the man uho lay dead or wounded near the
log. None of his comrades came to his agsistance.

The 0.C. got among the men, and ordered those in charge
of sections to reserve their fire and vait for targets

~ %o appesar. After that, the column only fired at
something that looked like a poiiceman or Tan. But
the raiding party kept up a measured fire, all directed
at the house, and I think the raiders numbored about
twenty~five men, all told. At this point, Bamonn

6 fnille had taken ﬁp a position on the east side br
.the house, bohind an old stone wall, and he was firing
gt the encmy along the road with a Howth rifle. This_
rifle vas a single shot, of German make, and had a
large bore. The bullet was lead, fitted into a large
casé. and had a large amount of some kind of black
pouder (vhich uas not cordite), and, at cach shot, a
large spurt of smoke would come from his rifle. At
the same time, he would let out a yell at the English

2 s to stend up and fight. It was not long
until some mariamen on the encnly side found the range
of Eamonn's position, and soon his sport got too hot

as bullets began to chip the ovall in rrantlof h;m.

He nas the only I.R.A. man I gver heard hollos at the

enemy, as each man fought with grim silenca. It was

the enscy who was known to holloa anud swear!

The 0.C. got back into the lines, and said that

he feared that the enemy might be also coming through




Leagh valley at the rear. He asked John Dundas from
Roundstone, who was one of the most daring and fearless

soldiers in the unit as well as having the agility of a

groyhound, to ascertain 1if it vas so. Ths 0.C.
instructed him to wait until the police had fired a
volley, and then to make a dash up the bare face of the
hill, with his gun and equipment. This he ¢14, and as
8)l enemy fire was directed at him, we held our breath
os the bullets spattered Eround him, until he got over
the crest of the hill and signalled that there was no
eneny in that direction. .

Around noon, the weather, which was very cold,
gave way to showers, and visibility became very poor.
The 0.C. told the men to Avail theaselves of this
condition apd vithdraw to the shoulder of the hill
vhere they -could have hetter means of movemsnt, should
reinforcemonts arrive. 'wo do this, we uvwould have to _
work our way along a fence to the east of our present
positions. At this point, there was an exposed patch
vhich was open to enemy fire. Fire was kept up as
each man dashed along the exposed patch and gained

cover in a contour, about fifty yards avay. All the
men got safely through in this oanner, and we could

look over the enewy position in comparative safety.

Still, it was not possible to get any firing
pomer to close with the enemy. So Gerald Bartley,

Bichard Joyco, Jack Feehan and Jim King .went to the
right and the left of the enemy ( and aftur a long
detour), got bohind and over their positions. . But,
although the range was short, they could not get
gffective firo to baar on thair-positions. They fired
a few shots at the R.I.C. man at the log, but found he

1%



vas already dead.

A party was sent in the direction of Leenans,

about a mile away, to cut the road. As this party vas
securing some tools in nearby houses, T.F. Joyce got by

in a Ford with some workeen, on his wvay to a farm at
Kilmilkin, Apparently, thare was no firing at this

time. A3 the Joyce's car got into the middle of the
ambush, an R.1.C. man leaped on the running bosrd, and

ordered bim to speed on, at rgvolver point. Bartlay
and Joyce fired on the policeman, and saw him roel as &
bullet smashed his arm. But he managed to hold on
until the car reached Heam, ﬁhere he got a message

through for reinforcements.

‘(bater, we loarned that it vas this message for

rainforcenents that prevented the ensmy from surrendering
during the attack on ounterouen.) -

Kot long aftor this, 8 beggar man want by on his
way to Leqnane, an@ it seoams .tha police gave him sope
kind of message. About a fev hours later, a car arrived
froao Lgenane direction, and a tall man in black got out,
and as the remainder of the column vere spread out along
the slopq of the mountains, one of the boys sent a few
shots in his dircetion, and he dashed for cover. The
man thought he was an R.I.C. man. (Visibility was poor,
due 60 shovers of hail.) fThat night, We learned that
the wan in the car vas Rav.'Faiher Cunningham, vho had
cowe up fro2 Losgans, on getting tno nossage from the
tramp to attand to the wouwnded R.Y.C. man.‘ Chriaty
Sraeen, who was a dead shot, fingd about four shots at a

black fug on ths side of the car; as he thcaght he had

loeated an 7.I.C. man, and whon the object d1d not seem - -
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to move, Christy cursed his American made Springfield
rifle as useless. But the following day, he heard

that all his bullets went into the rug, in one sguare
-foot.. Remarkable marksmanship at seven huhdred yards

range, ﬁith poor visibilityt -

From our ﬁositions on the side of the mountain,
we could not locate any movement by the police, as they
were packed tightly together at the enﬂ of a culvert in
an old sandpit on the other side of the road and stream.
At this time, Eamonn @ Maille, the engineer, began to
tell the 0.C. about trying high angle fire. I am sure
the enginser was thinking in terms of artillery or
mortér fire, and it was left to the professor and
engineer to figure it out. Alas, we did not have any

such weapons of war!

The 0.C. said that he would try to get scme men
aloﬁg the Leigh stream, to get close to the enemy, with
side arms, and try to drive him from cover. 8o he
selected Thomas Coyne to go with him, while Patrick '
Wallace and 1 came a distance behind. Ve had not gone
very far along thié stream when we were spottad by an
R.1I.C. man who had gone farther up the hill, on the
other side of the road, over the enemy position, and
soon he found our range as his bullets sang into the
ground around us iike_angry bees; After crawiiné a
long time, keeping in the shelter of the stream, we
reached a little mound-like hill, but could not get any
closer than one hundred yards of the enemy position,

and beyond this mound there was not a spot of cover.

Some hours had elapsed since the R.I.C. man got

avay on the car, and reinforcements might arrive at



any moment. And, 1f we were caught in this open ground,
we would not have a chance. So the 0.C. told us to
withdraw to our former positions. The marxsman 4id his
best to pick us off, as we ducked from cover to cover,

but, thank God, he &1d4 not hit any of us.

Not long after our return, some of the officers
who had binoculars and the man who had the large
telescope, reported that a 16ng line of lorries was
cominy; down the road from liaam Cross in our direction.
The column moved into a pocket of the mountains, out of
view of the enemy coming aiong the road. He were
fighting at least thirteen hours at this timea. The
engngement started at 3 a.m., and it was now 4.30 p.am.

Fram our positions on the mountain, ua‘watched
the reinforecements (fourteen lorry loads in ali), A
turreted armoured car wes in the lsad. Some of the
lorrieé halted about a mile away from the ambush position,
and the officers began to deploy thelr nen over the open
ground, in oxtended order, firing rifles and machine
guns &8 they came across the stream. The armoured car
got into the police position in front of the house, and
started to fire tuo machine guns. You could see dust
and slates, as well as glass flying, as the gunners.
raked the house and outer buildings.

Inmagine, if each I.R.A. marksﬁan had about one
hundred rounds of rifle ammunitien, what casualties-ve
could have inflicted on the might of England, advancing,
in vhat seemed to be a foolish formation. -But, alas,
each of us was reduced to a feW'rounﬂsl. These we had tob
save for emergency. It was ammsing to see the

different antics of the enemy as they advancsl towards



the house,in spread formation, in short dashes, and,
oven then, it took them about two hours to get close
enough to bomd 1t. And it was done under heavy machine
gun fire. All this was for nothing, as the house uwas
empty. The outhouse in tho back contained Nrs. Eamonn
8 Haille, her two small children and liss Jans 0 Maille,
as well as two girls who helped to cook for the column

"while there.

They fired and looted the house, and even killed
the horse and some cows. Thoy killed the pig, and
carried the carcass along with them. The four women
vere set free, aml [irs. Bamonn O Iaille and Jane got
ghelter in the home of [1.B. Kinz at Lecnane.

It was then dark. I went ahead to my own house
which was not far awvay, snd told my uncle's wife to get
some hot tea ready, as the column was coming dovn froﬁ
the mountain at the bacit. Soon they all arrived, and
after getting ghat they could to eat, some went to rest,
a9 guards were spread out. Nost of the men were in a
bad way, as they had very little to eat since the
previous day, and lying on the amountain in the uet ang
hail all day caused some to suffer from colds and sore
throats. However, the 0.C., Jack Fechan, and a few
more went down to Leenane to get some food and

refreshments, as well as cigarattas.

Uhile at my house in Cullaghbeg, we heard that
the polico had only one man killed and two wounded, but
most of them had to be carried to the lorries as they
were unadle to walk. It was then that we learned that
they were on the point of surrender, were it not for
tha wounded policeman who reached laam in the Joyce car

and sent word for reinforcements!




They did not expect such resistance from the men
in the house, and bellieved that there were only s fem
there who would, after the police fired some shots, run
out and bs shot doun! But their expectations were turned
to sorrow for those who thought so. They learned to

respect our abllity as soldiers after this encounter.

That night, the column went north-uvest, over the
mountain. Passing west of the village of Touwarleen
and north of the village of Glanagimla, we climbed a
mountain vhich had a high cone-like summit. We lay low
tha folloming day on the rocky slope of this mountaln,
ard it was bitterly cold. (Tomds ¢ laille wors a black

loose overcoat, over which he wrapped a tartan car rug,
held at the throat by a large horse blanket pin.) Ve

were cold and hungry, and there was frost on the ground.
Through glasseg, voe could ses the enemy lorries on the

prowl, alonz the road to Fenney.

then we left the scene of the ambush, we feigned
a rotreat in a southerly direction, veering north ai‘ter
dark. I don't knou how much such movement confounded
the enemy, but the following morning saw him moving in
our direction. Jo were all éitting around the mountain,

daiting for darkness, to pove along.

Tomds extracted a little volume from his pockot
which looked very much like a prayer-book, and, at first,
we thought he was going to start to pray. But, instead,
"he began te read in an unknown tongue. He thon started
to tell us that he was reading German poetry, and began
to translate his reading, vhich was about arape picking

in a vineyard on the Rhine. that some of the boys



sald was not in praise of his postry, but that he
should ba tossed into the Rhinas before he had & chance
to come into their company. Tomeds had studied in tho
leading universities of Germany and ungland prior to
teaching at Galway University.

The column then, under cover of darkness,
crossed the Killary Bay at Literass, between tge village
of Leenane énd Aghleigh, to the house of Patrick ang
Peter TWallace (who ware members of the column). After
getting soms much noeeded refreshuent, we moved overlthe
Ben Gorms mountain into a deep cup-iike valley, with a little
pend-like lake on its floor, named Lugge Corry.
Previously, the Intelligence Officer, John Connolly, had
procured a canvad tent at lLicKeown's Hotel at Leenane.
This was set up on the side of the little lake. The
valley was secure on all sides, as a series of steep

cliffs were all around it.

e remained for some days until we got the extra
anmunition and rifles which John Connolly brought along
from Ur. Kelly, the station-master at Haam Cross. i)
Kelly was doing everything he could to help the
fighting men. The arms were in a crate.'marked “China“.
and addressed to Fr. Keown at the Lei:nane Hotel. It
contained four Lee Znfield tifles, two .45 calibre
revolverss about 100 rounds of‘.iqs ammnition, the samae

amount for the revolvers, as well as ten hand grenades.

(It was indeed a godsand at this time.)

John Connolly told us that, when he vas at the
iaam Cross station collecting his crate, he was

approached by an R.1.C. sergeant and two constables who

wantad a 1ift to L'aam barracks. He said, *"Two of you



will have to sit on top of this crate of china in the
back of the ear®. So the two constables sat on top of
the c¢ratao. The sergeant talked all the vuay down to
Maam about the battle at Houterowan, while Connolly
could not keep from laughing at the two fallous in the
back, sitting on soce of the stuff that would later be 1ﬁ
the hands of men who would be using it against thenm.

After the Lounterovan battle, the enomy, slong
with burning down the residence of the U ¥aille family,
aiso burned all the property of P.J. Lcbonnell,

comprising of residence, shop and garage.

The Black ani Tans and Auxiliaries went through
all the country, in a round-up that followed, and thej
found my brother, Willie, home and brought him to laam
barracks. tillie had been active with the column, but
he vas not feeling too well. As he uUas very young,
beinz little over sixteen years old, it was thought best
that he should remain at homs. %hen they brought him
to the barracks, he was at once identified by one of
the constables as Ay brother. They could tell h;m
that I had visited my home the previous day, and also
told him the time I left, the garb I wore and the arms
I carriedt They gave him a terrible beating, and
injured his leg permanently. He was lying unconscious
in the barracks when a friendly R.I.C. man asked Thomas
O'l’alley of Kilmilkin (whose Ford was commandeered in
the round-up ami was being returned), to help him get .
my brother into the back of the car, and cover him with
‘a rug. Since the polics had given O!'Halley permission

to take the car away, they did not search it on the wgy out.



The R.I.C. man told my uncle afterwards that the Tans
meant to finish off my brothef on the way to Galuay.

Some of these R.I.C. men were giving information
to our I1.0., and without their assistance we counld not
have evaded capturoe. _

A week later, they came to the_house agaln.
This time, the Auxiliaries had blood:wounds. They uere
informed that my brother, who was limping about on his
injured leg, was staying cloae to the house. They got
all the clothes they could find, and tosged them to the
dogs, who took off with their noses to the ground,
baying ss thay went. Uy brother had left the house in
the morninz after he had some breakfast, and, aided by
a cane, he erossed a shallou stream before he climbed
north on the Reigh mountain. From a hiding place, ho
watched in terror as the dogs came in his direction.
When they came to the stream, they became confused, and
started alonz the bank until they lost the scent and
4id not continue beyorxl this point.

All this time, the rest of the raiding party
were terrorizing my uncile and his wife. One had
entered the stable where my uncle kept a dig stallion
named Lough Ennel, which had bgen purchased from the
Department of Agricultﬁre for stud purposes. Tho
horse was loose in the stall, and had been frightened
by the firing of shots and all the commotion. So he
started to kick and tried to trample the Tan. Some

of the officers told him to shoot the horse, but the
same friendly R.I.C. man told the officer that, if the

horse were shot, the Government would deal severely

in the matter, because the horse uas Government property.



They withdrew, after doing consideradble damags and
kpoeking oy uncle around, injuring his ribs. I an

sure they would have burned down the house, were it not
for the friendly R.I.C. man who bluffed them about the
Government stallion. The stallion did not belong to
the Government, as ve had purchased hia long before
this. But 1t vas the only way the friendly R.1.C. man
saw of preventing the house from béing deétroyed by fire.
He had heard the railding party say it was on their 1;st

for destructiont

'How; at this point, I wish to say a word about .
spies and informers, as well as thg friendly men in the
R.I.C. and military who were giving us all the
information and help they could. Those latter deserve
the eternal gratitude of the I.R.A. because they risked
their lives easch time they gave information to ald us.
But the spiles and touts who gave information to the
onemy should have beern erased from existence. ' I anm
avare that it vould be indeed hard to get any man or
group of men to act as a firing squad if some of those
miserable creatures, vho called themselves Irishmen and
Irishmomen, were sentenced to ba dealt with as they
deserved. But I em sure that, 1f the fight had
continned much longer, ve would have had to deal with
them in such & manner. If the G.1.Q. Staff Officer,
Ernie O'lalley, had come into our area to inspect and
direct operations as he did in the south, he would have
taken such action, and some of those migerable

creatures! carcasses would bs found along the roadside.

i e A - -



Along about this period 1n the fighting, a
metbor of the column dropped his revolver on a concrote
floor; the hammer hit the ground, discharging a .LS
bullet through the soft flesh of the calf of his leg,

and causing a nasty wound. As thera was danger of a

big round-up, it was not cohsldered safe to keep him in
the area. The 0.C. told me to take him into the
valley of Glanhouwhan uhich is at the back of the Iniagh

mountains, near the Ballinshinch-Clifden rosd. The
man vas at a house in Aahﬁount. near Leenané. 8o 1 had
to give my rifla to a member of the column, and,
carrying side arms and some extra bandages and
dressings, we started én thé long trek.

This is a d1fficult journey for one sound of
iimd, but, for a man suffering from a wound, it was
much worse. Honlever, we got there after eighteen hours
travellinz. As we came close to the house to which I
was taking the injured man, we haed to cross a steep,
fast-rushing stream on the side of the mountain. AR
this stage of the journey, my companion was in a
torrible state of axhaustion, and the wound was getting
vary red and painful. I was going to set him down on
‘the side of the mountain, and go domn into the village,
which was about a mlle away, to get help, but he said
he wounld continue as beast he could.

In adding him across the stream, I slid down a
rock into a deep pool, causing all my clothes to get
soakaed through, as well aa my rovolver and ammunition.
I elimbed out, and succeeded in getting the man dovun
to the house. After e arrived, the voman of the
house told me to take off my wet clothes and'gat them
dry, and she vould give ne somsthing to vear. I




unloaded my .45 (lebley revolver, and put it at the side
of the fire, on the hob, along with the ammunition, to
dry. vhen T returned to the roém. I picked up the
revolver, to clean and oil it: I pulled the trigger,
and there was a deafenirg explosion; and a bullaet
ripped through the frame of the door, and whistled by
the haad of the lady of the house, as she entered. I
looked st the revolver, and found five more rounds in
the cylinder. It seeas that a local Volunteer, who
uished to be smart, had reloaded the revolver vhile 1

was out of the room.

- e .

Every phase of Irish history is interwoven with
romance, and our part in it was no exception. Shortly
after the fight in Mountercwen, the Commanding Officer,
P.J. LcDonnsll, was married to Biss Tillie Kilroy at
.Newporb.  She was a sister of gichael Kilroy, the
gallant leader of the Tlest layo Column. LcDonnell and
Jack Feehan had to ecross country all the way to Newport
for the ceremony, and barely missed running into a patrol
of R.1.C. and Tans who were on a raid. Aftervwards, ue
celebrated the wedding in Thowmas ¥Xana's in Buronen

where we spread our sentries around the area.

The folloming day, some of us were having soume
sleep in Culfin, near Renyle, whon Volunteers reported a
raid in nearby Tullycross. Ve had to cross the Killary
Bay in a currach to the White Strand of Thilbaun where
ve were given a fine meal of bread, tea and salmon from

fishermen thero.

The "love bug! took a belated nip at our big

IR



friend, Padrale § U'mille, also at that time. One day,
he asked me to accompany him on @ rendezveous with the
object of his affeetion, a [liss Acton of Claddaghduff.
The meeting place was on the Clifden side of Letterfrack,
in the house of a Fr. lcioughlin. Miss Acton was
accompanied by a liss Joyce from Ungey. ‘'‘hen wa
arrived, there was a sumptuous repast set bafore us. All
was gay, and Padralc did justice to the board, as he had
a great appetite. It scems the food and also the
stimulnnt vhich was served caused Padraic's stomach to
collect gas. Heo aade a rush for the door, and failed
to locate the bolt. The gas escaped as Padraie
exclaimed in a loudl voice, "Excuse mo, liss Actonl
Excuse me, tliiss Joycel®, to the discoumfiture of the
company, as he rushed out. Some time later, 1 uas
relating the story to some of the column while we wers -
having n meal at iichasl O'Hefll's house in Glernaroff.
Padraic tried to hit me, and eried, “Shut up, you pupt",
tut I ducked under the table as his haun-like fist
degcended on its top, splintering some of iirs. O'Neill's
willow c¢hina and spillling food on the laps of some of
the boys. After that, the catch-uord was, "Oh, excuse

meo, Hiss Actont®

tthen I returned to ths column, they were
billeted along the Olanamura vallsey, and headguarters vwas
in the hfuse of Uichael Burke. A valley ran back from
the house to the [‘aolrea mountain, and wve were under
orders to retreat through this valley, in extended order,

should the alarm be given. There was an old man in
this house, and he led thg Rosary each night, in Gaelic,’

with Tomds helping out. He had some condition of the

throat vhich causdl him to recite the prayers in a



halting voice. I cannot explain the manner more than
to say that at time;it was like a shesp coughing, and
he would got a apaaﬁ of this, and most of the fellows
wera in stitches laughing, instead of following him and
Tomds in the Rosary.

One night, the alorm wvas sounded, and we started
along the valley on an old sheep track, in single file.
Tomds was walking along, with the tartan rug over his
loose coat. The day before, Hrs. 2. ¢ U'aille and Jane
had sent a dozen eggs for Tomds' use, and he put them
into a large handkerchief, and knotted the four ends.
Thus he vont along, and as each member of the unit wenﬁ
by him on the narrcg path, he gave a well-directed kick
at the eggs (vhich soon reduced them to a slimy aass,
speuing out on the rug and dripping off the tassels as
he toddled elong). The 0.C. was bringing up the fear,
and vhen he got to Tom#s, he asked him what was the
purpose of the slioy mess, and told him to get rid of it.
Tomds replied that he would not, but would bring the
©8gs to lrs. Burke as she could make a very good cake

for them, “do you know!®

Tot long aftef this, the ( Lallle brothers set up
a shelter at Kane's in lLeigh, near the old house which
was nov in ruins. One day, I was sitting with Padraic
on the side of tho hill. The weather was clear and
warn. It seems Tomds lilked to suim in 8 large pool
close to the main Leenane-Galway road. The military
had becoire very active in the arca at this time, and.had
concentratad most of their forces in the west. So to
had to break up into small groups, and wveave in and out
of the enemy's eneirciing mnovament. Tomds had



finished his swim and vwas drying himself in the hot sun
when 1 heard a rifle shot in the direction of Leenanec.
Along the road, about a mile distant, was approaching a
larée convoy of military lorries and armoured cars, on
their way to Galwgy. .hen Padrailc sav Tomds sitting in
the nude on the bank of the river, he began to ballow at
the top of his volce, "Lie down, you hound! Lie downi®
There was a waterfall close by, and Teads did not hear
Padratc. I put my finger to my mouth and let out a
sharp whistle, and Tomds looked in my direction and I
gave him a signal. He wade a dive into the river,
sending a geyser of wvater skyuard. tne convoy passed
along the road, and did not notice anything. So
aftervards, Tomds got up to vhere we were sitting, and
remarked that, 1f those ruffians had caught up to him,
they would have brought him in the nqée to Galway City
and paraded him in that manner around Galway University,

*do you know!"

Tomds had a special brand of ecigarettes, naamed
Turko-Irish, which he had made fpr his own use, and he
kapt them iz this shelter. T/hen he smoked a cigarette,
he would take only a feu puffs whan the whole cigarette
would be a soggy mess, as he drooled saliva all over it.
1 nade perpetual forays on those cigarettes (he got them
in cartons of one hundred), and carried them back to the
column where they wers enjoyed by the boys. One day,
Tomds snid he would like to lay hands upon the peasantry
around who were constantly wagging their tongues and
tocothless jaws, as well as stealing his cigsrettes. "1

would apply my hobnailed boot to their rear, do you knom!"




Around the early part of Juane, I received
instructions to go to the home of the two Wallace boys
at Litterass, on the Ashleigh-Louisburg road, and keep a
Jook-out for explosives which were to come to our cover
Qddress at the lecKeownts Hotel. Thomas Coyne, Patricxk
fWallace and I built a dug-out on the slope of the hill,
in some furze which grew all over that part of the
mountainside. “e had a large telescops set up there,
and could get a perfect view of the roads in the
direction of tlestport, for about ten miles, as well as the
Galway-Leenane and Clifden road, from our elevated
position. It was our custom to ¢oze doun to the
Viallace residence each day, to get some food. The bridge
at Dephi, on the Louisburg road, had been destroyed, and

we could not be very easily surprised from that direction.

One night, 1 had a dream as the three of us slaept
in the duge-out. I thought 1 nas'being pursued by the
Tans, and I had fallen down, and that they were about to
fire at me. I jumped up, and hit my head egainst the
low sheet-iron roof of the dug-out. I erawled out, and
pulled on my boots, as we slept fully ¢lothed, just
removing our coats and boots. The night was clear and
bright. 1 could neithor see nor hear a scund in any
direction. Only the dull drone of the Ashleigh waterfall
in the distance. How, the view from this position
surpasses anything in the world for beauty as the Eriff
nooded valley stretches in the distance, with the Ashleigh
woods and waterfall at the head of Killary Bay, dividing
Kayo and Galway, runniog from east to west. Vhen I
could not hear or see any movement, I went back to the
dug-out, as 1t was not yet daylight. Try as I would, I

could not get back to sleep again.



About 9 a.m., Wallace and Coyne awoke and | dressed,
and started to go down in the directiocn of the n?use, to
gat some breakfast. I sajd that 1 did not think that

we should go to the house to-day, as I had a feeiing. Gue

to & dream I had during the might, that scmething vould
happen. The two fellous looked at each other, §hook
their heads, thinking that I was cracking up. $o I told
them to go ahead, and that 1 would keep a look-out, and
‘asked them to bring some foocd back to me. Aftef some

dallying, they too got cold feet. So, about noon, we

vera2 starving. |

S8arah Uallace went into the fieid. Ghe §as a
sister of the twvo {lallace brothers, and bslongedito the
Cumann na mBan. Uie called to her to bring us s?me
breakfast. After some time, she came up thJ mountain,
with soae teﬁ in a can and bread and butter. S%e gave
us a good tongue lashing, telling us we were lazy loafers
who would not come to gat 'our oun food. When sge left,
I began to think that, if those two told the 0.C: that I
was acting on dreams, I might ﬁe dismissed from #ha
active service unit; so I did not feel too happﬁ about

|
the matter. |
|

. |
It vas not loug, hovever, until we heard shots in

the direction of Eriff Uoods and, through the teieseope,
savw dust rising off the road. Soon, out of theiwoods
came an armoured cage, & Crossley tender and tou$1ng car,
at high speed. ‘e got under cover, 83 we thougﬁt they
would pﬁss on to Leenane. They entered the Ashieigb
Wood, and ve sav the Crossley tender come along éhe
Leenanc road, through the village of Glanagimla.! It

stopped across the bay on the road; The men got out,




and set up a machine gun on the gsod fence covering the
tinllaca house. The remainder spread out along the
fence, with their riflos covering the houso. ‘Then the
armoured ecar sped along the iLouilsburg road, right up to
the dobr_oF the house. The crew jumped off, and
surrcunded 1t. In the Ashleigh Jood, they left the
touring car, with some more riflemen who could fire on
the side of the hill if anybody tried to run in that
direction. ““hile this was going on, we lay close to
the ground at the dug-out in the furze, and dared not

mnove.

After some time, they all left and went back to
ﬁestport at a high spsed. - .Je vere about to come down
to the house vhon ue heard gunfire and boabs exploding,
as well as machine gun fire. wa forgot all about the
house, and got up higher on the mountain, and listened
to what scemed a battle going on. This continued for
some hours, and as darkness sat in, we could Se¢ dense
clouds of smoke rising from the direction of the =rif¢

valley.

Barly the noxt morning, we were informed that the
vWest ~ayo Column, under the command of [ichasl Kilroy,
- had attacked and destroyed the whole raldinpg party,
getting all their arms and burning their lorries.

The column was in billets along the Glanamura
valley when information vwas received that a huge round-up
vas to be carried out all along the west coast of Fayo
and that troops woere to be landed in Killary Bay for a
drive inland from that direcetion. As our billats were

on the Hayo side and the Intelligence Officer told us
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that the round-up would take place the following day,
the 0.C. got all his men together and told them to
proceed in oxtended formation along the road to
Bundorragh, where ve wvould try to effeoct a crogsing Ly
boat.

llow the enenmy was getting clese and endeavouring
to encircle us in a pincer movemcnt. As each man hugged
the side of the roead with the 0;6. in advance, we vwers a
grim sileht body, and rifles were at half-cock, with
fingers on tr}ggors. Wa got to the crossing peint and
sat off in the boats, but some distance from shore, some
of the boats began to leak, due to belng in the kot suvn
{the weather was vory warm and dry at the time). Vle .
reached Galuay shore as dawn broke - ncar Bunowen and
west of Derryinnsligan Lodge. e had barely reachaed
tho shore and pulled the boats to the beach.{nhen two
encny 'planes (scouting 'planes) camo into view,
¢ircling the shores of the Bay.

Around the antry of the Bay steamed tvio
destroﬁars. They cast anchor not far from our cover
to vhich we were driven by the scouting 'planes. Oneo
destroyer lowered a launch, manned by a erew, which came
in our direction. The 0.C. gave the order to be ready
to fire 1f they should laﬁﬁ. fach man released the

safety cateh on his weapon, and walted. The men in the

" Jauneh threw a line on each boat, ami started baca to the

destroyer. In all our close brushes with the *Grim
Reapcr", he surely breathed down our backs at that
moment, and a celd chlll passcd along oy sping at this

¢losensgs of death.

e werce pinned to the ground in our positiqns all

day, as we watched the encamy send hundreds of men to the



Iayo shorc. They started to repair the Delphi bridge
which had been blown up, as well as set fire to the
heather on thce mountain sida. ‘e were very hungry, and
suceceeded in getting a man td Thonas Kana's in Bonowen
to got somc tea. Urs. Kane was one of tho nost courageous
vomnsn I ever meﬁ, and had dona overything she could for
the men who were fighting. " She sent a boy with hot tes,
bread and butter, and she wrapped a burlap sack around
the bright tin milk-can, to prevent the enemy, who had a
look-out man in the crows nest on the destroyer, from
spottinz the can as it was carried to us. It was indeed
8 blessing to our parcheq palates as well as to our tense

nerves.

We lay close to the ground all day, and as
darkness set in, got orders to get over the nill at the
back. 7é had just started to move off, avaiiing
ourselves of what cover we could find, when the
destroy.rs started to play search-lights on the bay and
mountains, and the night became as day. The 0.C. at
this point was amonyst us, and t~ld us to move only ﬁhen
the ligiits were gswept away from our positions. After
nhat saemed an eternity, we were finally over the tip of

the mountain.

In the village of lugnaavgh, we obtained
refreshments. Then the 0.C. said we would have to get
across to Leenanc-Clifden road before daylight, as
military might start to move in that direction, if they
had not done so already. We came close Lo the road and
tock cover, as each man c¢rswled over aﬁ intervals. Once
over, we entered the village of Glencorbtert where we went
to sleep without any rocking, as we had all a close call!



On July 10th, I was in the viliagae of Ballinafar;
near Ballinshinch Castle, uith three members of the

colunn, when a despatch ceme, telling us that the Truce
would be in effect the following day at noon. tle werea
to proceed at once to the village of Glanagimla, near

Leenane, on the Lestport road, and have all arms dumped

at that hour.

It was a megssage of joy to us, and we set out on
the long jJourney, coming through Recess and skirting the
mountains along an o0ld horse track that led through the
mountains on the Lecnane road, near HciXeown's Hotel.

It was about ten o'clock when we got in sight of Killary
Bay overlooking the road, end we were about to get on
the road and continue to iLgenane,with the intention of
getting some refreshments at Mrs. Cuffeb {n Leenane.

LUy attention was attracted to a series of flashes as if
coming from a signal lamp on the Leenane-Vestport road.
I told my companions to remain on the road, and I went
back to the home of the Brigade Adjutant which was close

by. His mother answered the door, and when she sav me,
she became Qquite alarmed. 1 asked her if she was glad

the fighting was coming to an end the following day.
Sﬁe said, "I am, dbut, for God's sake, don't start
anything tonight!® I asked her what she meant, and she
told me that Leenane was full of military, Auxiliaries
and Black and Tans, and that they had outposts set up
who were si6nalling to each other whiie the main body
occuplied houses in the village and the officers stayed

at the lLeenane Hotel.

This meant that we had to get across the Killary
Bay and detour along the Testport-iLouisburg road into the
village of Glanagimla. e arrived there close to



daylight, after an extra five miles added to our journsy.
V¥le could not find any empty beds, as all the column had
taken over, as well as lichael Kilroy and three of his
officers who werae also thliere, after evading a round-up of
close to 8 thousand troops who were combing the Mayo

mountains. So we lay down in a heaystack until morning.

tle dumped all our arms and entered the village of
Leenane to do a bit of celebrating. Thus ended the

Tiest Connemara Column's part in the fight for freedom!

In conclusion, may I say that thirtyesix years
have elapsed since the end of this part of the fight for
me, and thirty-one of theam have been spent in exile.

All the foregolng experiences are recorded from memory,
as I don't have much data at my disposal to aid me in
recording events connected with the fight. Howevar, 1
understand that P.J. licDonnall, John Fechan and Gerald
Bartley, T.D., who were my senior officers, have stated
their-part in the fight, so any dates of events which
LAY be in dispute can be verified by consulting thelr

story, as 1 am sure they have correct data to guide them.

And a word to the historian:

It was an honour and privilege to be
nunbered among such gallant, loyal and devoted

comrades. Moder

military strategists may
dispute the methodlk of combat used by the

I.R.A., but I do if history will duplicate



_ such & Herculean task performed by any army,
: with such armament, under such conditions
. and against such great odds. We are all
scattered now, and somxe are called to their
eternal revard, and, before another decade
will have elapsed, there will be very few of
our muabar lef@. Hay we all meet in

, Paradiset
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